
 

1 
 

TOWN OF RIB MOUNTAIN 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

December 12, 2018 
 

Chairperson Harlan Hebbe called the meeting of the Plan Commission to order at 6:00 pm.  Other Plan 

Commission members present included Jay Wittman, Jim Hampton, Ryan Burnett, Tom Steele, and Laura 

McGucken. Also present were Community Development Director, Steve Kunst and Building Inspector / 

Assistant Zoning Administrator, Paul Kufahl.   

MINUTES: 

Motion by Tom Steele, second by Jim Hampton to approve the minutes of the November 14, 

2018 Plan Commission meeting.  Motion carried 6-0. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

a. Mark Bradfish, agent, requests conditional use approval for an indoor maintenance use to operate 

a towing company at the property addressed 4802 Swan Avenue. Parcel 

#34.142807.006.030.00.00. Docket #2018-53.  

Community Development Director, Steve Kunst, indicated the applicant is seeking a conditional use 

to operate a towing company out of the former Badger Utility site.  Kunst also noted the applicant is 

interested in installing additional fencing to help screen and secure the towed vehicles while onsite 

and that outdoor vehicle storage is limited to licensed vehicles waiting for repair.  

Jim Hampton asked if Swan Ave was the only access to the site and how much traffic is anticipated on 

the site.  Kunst noted Swan Ave is the primary access to the site, but Badger Utility previously had 

access from Sunflower Ln.  Mark Bradfish, applicant, indicated Swan Ave would be the main access 

location; however, they do plan to use Ryder Truck’s access location on Lilac for overnight drop-offs.  

Bradfish also noted traffic levels will likely be less than Badger Utility and he anticipates approximately 

10 trips on a busy day.  

Harlan Hebbe questioned how many vehicles would be stored onsite at any given time.  Bradfish 

estimated he could have as many as 12 vehicles stored onsite.  He noted they plan to store all vehicles 

between the building and the fence to the west to help screen them from residents on Swan Ave.  

Along with the outdoor storage, Bradfish noted any vehicle with leaking fluids will be stored indoors 

where they can contain all fluids.  He indicated they are very mindful of environmental protections 

and their company will even do crash site clean ups.   

Jay Wittman asked if there would be any bus or semi-truck and trailer hauling and storage onsite.  

Bradfish indicated there could be, but the majority of semi-truck operators prefer they are towed to 

a maintenance/repair facility immediately and not to their site. 



 

2 
 

Hampton asked if Swan Ave was designed for this type of traffic.  Kunst indicated Swan is a residential 

street which is in very bad condition, but is slated for reconstruction next year. Kunst also indicated 

commercial traffic from the subject property has utilized Swan for quite some time.  Commissioners 

discussed the elevation difference from the road to the vehicle storage area, noting that most 

residents and vehicles on Swan Ave would be looking over the top of the site. 

Tom Steele questioned the amount of signage they are planning.  Bradfish indicated it would be the 

same as what Badger Utility had previously; two (2) unlit - four foot by eight-foot (4’x8’) signs. 

Wittman asked the applicant about the type of fence they are considering for the storage area.  

Bradfish stated it would likely be a chainlink fence with privacy panels. 

Ryan Burnett asked the applicant about crash site clean up procedures and who regulates it and how 

that relates to onsite activities.  Bradfish noted they will do all types of crash site clean ups, from 

individual cars to semi-tanker crashes.  He indicated they work with local disposal companies and the 

DNR for proper disposal of materials and fluids.  He also noted they are regulated by the State Patrol 

and DOT, and those entities can and will do spot checks in the field and at their storage areas to make 

sure they remain compliant with all applicable regulations.  Additionally, he noted there would be no 

onsite storage of clean up materials. 

Laura McGucken asked the applicant to describe a typical day at their facility.  Bradfish noted their 

days are weather dependent, but could include a number of towing calls throughout the day where 

the vehicle is either brought to their storage site or delivered to a repair facility and potentially three 

to four owner or insurance representatives stopping at the site to review vehicle damage.   

Steele asked if the applicant plans to have additional dumpsters on site.  Bradfish noted they would 

likely have a four (4) yard dumpster onsite for their own trash, but would not be storing or disposing 

of any other materials. He also indicated the potential dumpster location on the aerial view provided.  

Kunst noted any dumpster onsite would need to be screened.  The applicant acknowledged the 

screening requirement and stated they would be willing to do that. 

Chairperson Hebbe opened and closed the Public Hearing portion of the meeting at 6:18pm with no 

public comment. 

Kunst highlighted the following items as points of discussion and potential conditions of approval. 

- Identifying the location and type of fencing 

- Requiring dumpster screening 

- Identifying a specific area for vehicle storage 

- Requiring night traffic to access the site through Ryder’s access on Lilac Ave. 

Burnett noted he prefers the night time traffic to come from Lilac to minimize traffic in the residential 

area.  Bradfish indicated they intend to use that access as permitted by Ryder Truck after 11pm. Steele 

asked if there would be any lighting on the building or parking area.  Bradfish stated it would just be a 

few, existing small building lights. 



 

3 
 

Wittman questioned where the towing equipment and vehicles are stored and if the conditions of 

approval could be tied directly to the applicant.  Bradfish noted all towing equipment is store inside the 

building and at night himself and the other employee take home a truck in case of overnight calls.  Kunst 

then noted all conditions of approval would be tied to the parcel and not the solely the applicant. 

McGucken stated that while the current applicant appears to have a well thought out plan and is making 

an effort to minimize their impact on the neighboring residents, any conditions should be future thinking 

in the event this business no longer occupies this space.  She also verified with the applicant that no repair 

work is being done onsite.  Bradfish stated they are only a towing company and work with other area 

repair shops for that service. 

Commissioners discussed a possible condition on the location of stored vehicles, a requirement for 

overnight access from Lilac Ave, and screening requirements.  They agreed that because of the limited 

traffic potential, the only major concern was screening of all outdoor storage items like vehicles and 

dumpsters. 

Motion by Jay Wittman, second by Tom Steele, to recommend approval of the conditional use request 

for an indoor maintenance use at the property addressed 4802 Swan Ave, conditioned upon adequate 

fencing to screen all outdoor storage areas (vehicles and dumpsters) approved by staff and fencing up 

to eight (8) feet in height. 

Motion Carried 6-0 

b. Halle Properties LLC, owner, requests General Development Plan and Precise Implementation Plan 

approval for a Zoning Map Amendment at the property addressed 4201 Rib Mountain Drive for an 

indoor maintenance use.  Parcel #34.112807.011.016.00.00. Docket #2018-54. 

Kunst noted earlier this year the Town approved a new Discount Tire facility at 4201 Rib Mountain Drive; 

however, since that time the applicant identified concerns over the proximity of a water line to the 

wetland and potential future disturbance activities in the event of maintenance work.  Therefore, the 

applicant’s revised submittal requests moving the building 10 feet closer to the Rib Mountain Drive right-

of-way.   Kunst indicated the Rib Mountain Drive right-of-way in this area exceeds 100 feet in width and 

would typically require a 45’ front yard setback, but the current proposal is requesting approximately 35 

feet.   

Kunst explained the increased building setback requirements are generally required along State or County 

highways or in areas where additional public improvements are likely.  Kunst identified other areas of Rib 

Mountain Drive which are less than 100 feet in right-of-way width and would only require the traditional 

35-foot setback.  Additionally, Kunst noted he spoke with Streets and Parks Superintendent Scott Turner 

and there are no long-term plans for additional public improvements in this area that would discourage 

the decreased setback. 

 



 

4 
 

In addition to the setback modification, Kunst also stated Discount Tire has provided a signage plan which 

exceeds the typical signage standards by approximately 100 square feet, and that all other layout and 

design items from the original proposal have been kept. 

Todd Mosher, applicant representative, stated the initial concept plan development and DNR wetland 

approvals were based on the typical 35 foot setback requirement, but when Kunst notified them of the 

additional 10 feet they thought they had enough room and pushed the building back.  He noted during 

the engineering and permit plan phase of the project it was identified the water line would be difficult to 

frost protect and maintain given the proximity to the wetland retaining wall and its tieback system.   

Commissioners asked staff if this was the only location the water line could be located.  Staff indicated 

there are always other location options, but based on the building siting and water line size required for 

their fire suppression system, the proposed location was the most realistic.  

Wittman asked if the proposed signage would be lit.  Kunst noted the proposal does indicate the channel 

letters will be lit. Burnett asked how much additional signage they are requesting.  Kunst indicated it would 

be approximately 100 square feet more than would be allowed typically and that includes the three (3) 

wall signs and a 50 square foot monument sign. 

Commissioners noted they prefer the signage to more closely conform to the traditional allowances.  

Mosher added the addition of the third wall sign on the north side of the building was intended to create 

an aesthetic balance with the rest of the building while allowing customers to identify their location when 

travelling southbound on Rib Mountain Drive. 

Commissioners indicated they were concerned about the addition of the third wall sign and asked staff 

how many wall signs would typically be allowed.  Kunst stated they would typically be allowed two wall 

signs per public street frontage, and in this instance they have only one street frontage because the road 

to the east is private. Mosher asked how much signage would be allowed if the building had been oriented 

differently.  Staff determined that an additional 14 square feet would have been permitted based on the 

building façade calculation.  Kunst indicated the lot frontage is the calculation method which created the 

largest signage allowance for the proposed building orientation. 

McGucken indicated there were no major concerns about the decreased building setback because it only 

effects a small portion of the building and the overall site layout and building appearance make up for the 

small difference in setback. Wittman asked Staff if there was any concern with the proposed monument 

sign placement and if the applicant could describe its appearance.  Staff indicated because of the right-in 

right-out access to the property, the monument sign location should not cause any traffic or pedestrian 

visibility issues.  Mosher noted that should the Plan Commission only allow for a 50 square foot monument 

sign, it would be a five foot by ten-foot (5’x10’) panel on a five-foot-high base in the same aesthetic as the 

building stone and cornice. 

Chairperson Hebbe opened and closed the Public Hearing at 7:05pm with no public comment. 

Commissioners discussed the removal of one wall sign and creating a maximum signage allowance.  They 

also indicated they would be open to allowing staff to approve the monument given what was presented. 



 

5 
 

McGucken asked if there were any other changes from the original plan and if any additional conditions 

needed to be considered because of the change from suburban commercial to UDD.  Mosher and Kunst 

noted there were no additional changes.  Kunst indicate he would recommend conditions of stormwater 

plan and maintenance agreement approvals and any provisions related to the signage. 

McGucken asked the Commission if they were still ok with the use as well, because the GDP/PIP is an 

approval of all items presented and not just those changed from the previous approval.  The Commission 

members were still approving of the use and remaining site plan. 

Motion by Ryan Burnett, second by Tom Steele, to recommend approval of the GDP/PIP for a new 

Discount Tire facility at the property addressed 4201 Rib Mountain Drive, conditioned upon the 

following items: 

- Indoor maintenance use to be restricted to tires and wheels only 

- A stormwater management plan approved by Streets and Parks Superintendent Scott Turner 

- A stormwater management maintenance agreement approved by Streets and Parks 

Superintendent Scott Turner 

- A maximum of two (2) building wall signs 

- A monument sign not to exceed 50 square feet and whose placement and appearance is 

approved by staff 

- A total signage area of 185 square feet 

Motion Carried 6-0 

c. Discussion and possible action on 2019 Plan Commission schedule.  

Kunst presented the proposed 2019 Plan Commission schedule and Commissioners indicated no 

noticeable conflicts or concerns. 

 

CORRESPONDENCE / QUESTIONS / TOWN BOARD UPDATE:   

Countywide Addressing – Kunst indicated State Supreme Court oral arguments are scheduled for February 

14, 2019. 

PUBLIC COMMENT:  None  

ADJOURN:  

Motion by Tom Steele, second by Jay Wittman to adjourn the Plan Commission Meeting.  Motion carried 
6-0.  Meeting adjourned at 7:17 pm. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Paul Kufahl, Building Inspector / Assistant Zoning Administrator 


